

# DELHI INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED

Policy on Related Party Transactions (RPT)



## **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction	3
	1.1. Purpose of the Policy	3
	1.2. Definitions	3
	1.3. Interpretation	6
2.	Policy	6
3.	Identification of RPTs	6
4.	Review and Approval of RPTs	6
	4.1. Audit Committee	6
	4.2. Board	8
	4.3. Shareholders	9
	4.4 Materiality Thresholds	10
5.	RPTs not approved under this Policy	10
6.	Disclosures	10
7.	Amendment	11
8.	Review of Policy	11



#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors (the "Board") of Delhi International Airport Limited (the "Company"), has adopted the following policy and procedures ("Policy") with regard to Related Party Transaction(s) (RPTs) as detailed below.

#### 1.1. PURPOSE OF THE POLICY

The Board of Directors (the "Board") of the Company understands the importance of stakeholders' confidence and trust in the Company. In order to preserve the same with transparency and to ensure that there is no conflict of interest inflicting any apprehension in the minds of its stakeholders, the Board of the Company, acting upon the recommendation of its Audit Committee (the "Committee), has adopted the following policy and procedures with respect to Related Party Transactions of the Company.

The policy is not only in the best interests of its stakeholders but also in due compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 and Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 ("Listing Regulations"). Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations, a policy needs to be formulated to deal with Related Party Transactions including formulating a policy on materiality of Related Party Transactions.

Accordingly, the Company has formulated this Policy on materiality of Related Party Transactions and on dealing with Related Party Transactions. This Policy regulates all transactions between the Company and its Related Parties.

The Board of Directors of the Company ("Board") on recommendation of the Audit Committee of the Company ("Audit Committee") shall review the Policy once in three years and may amend the same from time to time.

#### 1.2. DEFINITIONS

- 1.2.1. "AAI" means the Airports Authority of India.
- 1.2.2. "Act" means the Companies Act, 2013.
- 1.2.3. "Arm's Length Transaction" means a transaction as defined under Companies Act, 2013 i.e. a transaction between two related parties that is conducted as if they were unrelated, so that there is no conflict of interest.



- 1.2.4. "Associate Company" in relation to another company, means a company in which that other company has a significant influence, but which is not a subsidiary company of the company having such influence and includes a joint venture company.
  - For the purposes of this clause, "significant influence" means control of at least twenty percent of total voting power, or control of or participation in business decisions under an agreement
- 1.2.5. "Audit Committee" means Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company constituted under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations.
- 1.1.1. "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company.
- 1.1.2. "Company" means Delhi International Airport Limited.
- 1.1.3. "Director" means a person as defined under Section 2(34) of the Companies Act, 2013.
- 1.1.4. "Group Entity" with respect to a specified Entity, means any other Entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with such specified Entity; provided however, that for purposes of this definition, the terms, "controlling", controlled by, or under common control with mean the possession, directly or indirectly of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of an Entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, or the power to elect or appoint at least 50% of the Directors, managers, partners or other individual exercising similar authority.
- 1.1.5. "High Value Debt Listed Entity" (listed entity) means an entity which has listed its non-convertible debt securities ('NCDs') and has the value of principal outstanding of listed NCDs of Rs. 500 crore and above.
  - 1.1.6. "Key Managerial Personnel" or "KMP" means Key Managerial Personnel of the Company in terms of Section 2(51) of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.
    - (i) Managing Director or Chief Executive Officer or the Manager and in their absence a wholetime Director;
    - (ii) Company Secretary; and
    - (iii) Chief Financial Officer.
    - (iv) such other officer, not more than one level below the Directors who is in whole-time employment, designated as key managerial personnel by the Board; and
    - (v) such other officer as may be prescribed;



- 1.1.7. "Material Related Party Transactions" would mean the following:
  - A) a transaction with a related party if the transaction/ transactions to be entered individually or taken together with previous transactions during a financial year, exceeds 10% of the annual consolidated turnover of the Company as per the last audited financial statements of the Company or such other limit in terms of the Listing Regulations in force from time to time.
  - B) a transaction involving payments made to a related party with respect to brand usage or royalty shall be considered material if the transaction(s) to be entered into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a financial year, exceed five percent of the annual consolidated turnover of the Company as per the last audited financial statements.

Provided that a transaction with a related party shall be considered material, if the transaction(s) to be entered into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a financial year, exceeds rupees one thousand crore or ten per cent of the annual consolidated turnover of Company as per the last audited financial statements of the Company, whichever is lower.

With effect from April 1, 2023, a related party transaction to which the subsidiary of a listed entity is a party but the listed entity is not a party, shall require prior approval of the audit committee of the listed entity if the value of such transaction whether entered into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a financial year, exceeds ten percent of the annual standalone turnover, as per the last audited financial statements of the subsidiary;

- 1.1.8. "Material Modification" of Related Party Transaction will mean and include any modification to an existing Related Party Transaction having variance of 20% of the existing limit as sanctioned by the Audit Committee/ Board/ Shareholders, as the case may be.
- 1.1.9. "OMDA" means the Operation, Management and Development Agreement entered into between the Company and AAI.
- 1.1.10. "Ordinary Course of Business" means the usual transactions that are necessary, normal and incidental to the business, the objects of the Company permit such activity, there is a historical practice and pattern of frequency (not an isolated transaction), has connection with the normal business carried on by the Company.
- 1.1.11. "Policy" means Related Party Transaction Policy of the Company.



- 1.1.12. "Related Party" means, a person or an entity:
  - (i) which is a related party under Section 2(76) of the Act, as amended from time to time; or
  - (ii) which is a related party under the applicable accounting standards.
  - (iii) which is a related party under Regulation 2(1) (zb) of the Listing Regulations.

Provided that any person or entity forming a part of the promoter or promoter group of the Company or any person or entity, holding equity shares of 20% or more in the Company either directly or on a beneficial interest basis as provided under Section 89 of the Companies Act, 2013, at any time, during the immediately preceding financial year shall be deemed to be a related party.

[The threshold is set to be lowered to 10% w.e.f. 1 April, 2023.]

- 1.1.13. "Related Party Transaction" or RPTs means:
  - a) transaction(s) in the nature of contract involving transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Company and the Related Party, specifically including transactions under Section 177 and Section 188 of the Act including rules thereof,
  - b) transaction(s) as defined in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 24.
  - c) transaction(s) as defined in Regulation 2(1) (zc) of the Listing Regulations.
  - d) transaction(s) covered under Article 8.5.7 (i)(f) of OMDA.
- 1.1.14. "Relative" as per the Companies Act, 2013, with reference to any person, means anyone who is related to another, if:
  - (i) they are members of a Hindu Undivided Family;
  - (ii) they are husband and wife; or
  - (iii) one person is related to the other person as;
    - i. Father (including step-father)
    - ii. Mother (including step-mother)
    - iii. Son (including step-son)
    - iv. Son's wife
    - v. Daughter
    - vi. Daughter's husband
    - vii. Brother (including step-brother)
    - viii. Sister (including step-sister)
  - 1.1.15. "Regulation" means the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015



- 1.1.16. "Subsidiary Company" means as defined under Section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rules issued thereon, including any statutory modification and amendment thereof as may be issued from time to time.
- 1.1.17. "Turnover" means as defined under Section 2(91) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with related rules issued thereon, including any statutory modification and amendment thereof as may be issued from time to time.

#### 1.2. INTERPRETATION

Words and expressions used in this Policy shall have the same meanings respectively assigned to them in the following:

- (i) The Companies Act, 2013 or the Rules framed thereunder;
- (ii) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.
- (iii) OMDA

## 2. POLICY

All Related Party Transactions and subsequent modifications must be reported to the Audit Committee and if applicable, be referred by the Audit Committee to the Board of Directors for approval in accordance with this Policy.

Further, the transaction with the Group Entities, as defined in OMDA, must be approved by the Board and prior intimation be given to AAI about the key terms of such contract and disclose the draft contract to the AAI.

This Policy shall come into effect from July 29, 2022 post adoption by Board of Directors and supersede the existing policy on Related Party Transactions.

## 3. IDENTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Every Director and Key Managerial Personnel will be responsible for providing a Disclosure of Interest pursuant to Section 184 of the Companies Act, 2013 in the prescribed format, to the Company Secretary on an annual basis.



Each Director and Key Managerial Personnel is responsible for providing notice to the Board or Audit Committee of any potential Related Party Transaction involving him or her or his or her Relative, including any additional information about the transaction that the Board/Audit Committee may reasonably request. Board/Audit Committee will determine whether the transaction does, in fact, constitute a Related Party Transaction requiring compliance with this policy.

The Company strongly prefers to receive such notice of any potential Related Party Transaction well in advance so that the Audit Committee/Board has adequate time to obtain and review information about the proposed transaction.

The Company Secretary shall be responsible to maintain an updated database of information pertaining to Related Parties reflecting details of —

- 1) All Directors and Key Managerial Personnel;
- 2) All individuals, partnership firms, companies and other persons as declared and updated by Directors and Key Managerial Personnel;
- 3) Company's holding company, subsidiary companies and associate companies;
- 4) All Group entities; and
- 5) Any other entity which is a Related Party as defined under Section 2(76) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations or the relevant Accounting Standard.

The database shall be updated whenever necessary and shall be reviewed periodically by the Company Secretary and/ or Chief Financial Officer.

## 4. REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF RPTs

## 4.1. Audit Committee

 Every Related Party Transaction and subsequent modifications shall be subject to the prior approval of the Audit Committee whether at a meeting or by a resolution by circulation. Further, only those members of the Audit Committee who are independent directors shall approve related party transactions.

Every related party transaction to be entered into by the subsidiary of the Company to which the Company is not a party, shall require prior approval of the Audit Committee of the Company if the value of such transaction whether entered into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a financial year exceeds:

(a) 10% of the annual consolidated turnover, as per the last audited financial statements of the Company; or



(b) With effect from April 1, 2023, 10% of standalone turnover, as per the last audited financial statements of the subsidiary.

However, prior approval of the Audit Committee shall not be required for a related party transaction to which listed subsidiary is a party but the Company is not a party, if regulation 23 and sub-regulation (2) of regulation 15 of Listing Regulations are applicable to such listed subsidiary;

For related party transactions of unlisted subsidiaries of a listed subsidiary as referred to above, the prior approval of the Audit Committee of the listed subsidiary shall suffice.

The Audit Committee shall be provided such details as may be required to assess the RPTs including the information required to be provided as per the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations:

All Related Party Transactions and subsequent modifications shall require prior approval of the Audit Committee. However, the Audit Committee may grant omnibus approval for Related Party Transaction(s) proposed to be entered into by the company subject to the following conditions:

- (i) The Related Party Transaction proposed to be entered into with the Company must be repetitive in nature and in ordinary course of business and at Arm's Length basis.
- (ii) The Audit Committee shall satisfy itself the need for such omnibus approval and that such approval is in the interest of the company;
- (iii) Such omnibus approval shall specify (i) the name(s) of the related party, nature of transaction, period of transaction, maximum amount of transaction that can be entered into, (ii) the indicative base price / current contracted price and the formula for variation in the price if any and (iii) such other conditions as the Audit Committee may deem fit;
  - Provided that where the need for Related Party Transaction cannot be foreseen and aforesaid details are not available, Audit Committee may grant omnibus approval for such transaction(s) subject to their value not exceeding rupees one crore (Rs. 1,00,00,000) per transaction.
- (iv) Audit Committee shall review, at least on a quarterly basis, the details of RPTs entered into by the company pursuant to each of the omnibus approval given.
- (v) Such omnibus approvals shall be valid for a period not exceeding one financial year and shall require fresh approvals after the expiry of one financial year.
- (vi) Omnibus approval shall not be made for transactions in respect of selling or disposing of the undertaking of the Company.



## (vii) Conditions as approved by the Board of Directors, from time to time.

Transaction(s), other than transactions referred to under Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 entered into between holding company and its wholly owned subsidiary or between two wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, whose accounts are consolidated with the Holding Company and placed before the shareholders at General Meetings for approval shall not require approval of the Audit Committee.

#### 4.2. BOARD

In the event of any transaction, contract or arrangement is not in the ordinary course of business or at arm's length, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Act and the Rules framed there-under and obtain approval of the Board or its shareholders, as applicable, for such contract or arrangement.

Further, if the Audit Committee determines that a Related Party Transaction should be brought before the Board, or where Audit Committee does not approve the transaction shall make its recommendation to the Board, or if the Board in any case decides to review any such matter or it is mandatory under any law for Board to approve the Related Party Transaction, then the Board shall consider and approve the Related Party Transaction and the considerations set forth above shall apply to the Board's review and approval of the matter, with such modification as may be appropriate under the circumstances.

A Director, if interested in any Related Party Transaction, shall not be present at the meeting, whether physically or through Electronic mode, during discussions and shall not vote on such item.

## TRANSACTIONS WITH GROUP ENTITY FALLING UNDER OMDA

The Company shall prior to entering into or modifying any contract with a Group Entity of the Company or any of its shareholders (other than AAI), inform AAI about the key terms of such contract and disclose the draft contract to the AAI. In relation to such contracts, AAI shall have the right to object to any key terms that it can reasonably demonstrate are not equitable, are inconsistent with or contrary to the letter or spirit of this Agreement or not on arms-length, and the Company shall address the reasonable concerns of AAI prior to execution of such contracts.

The Company shall further ensure that any contract with a Group Entity of the Company or any of its shareholders (other than AAI) shall only be entered into after the Board of the Company duly approves such contract itself and the same is not approved by any sub-committee of the Board or by delegation to any person whatsoever. The Board shall have the right to consider and comment on the terms and conditions of such contracts and suggest modifications thereto. The Board shall be entitled to seek a report on the terms of contracts from the Independent Engineer. The Board shall approve any such contract only if it is satisfied that the terms thereof are no less favorable to the Company than those which could have been obtained from bona fide non-Group Entities/ non-shareholders on arms-length commercial basis.



The Company shall ensure that the transactions with Related Parties are on an arms-length pricing basis and comply with the contracting procedures set forth in Schedule 12 of OMDA.

#### 4.3. SHAREHOLDERS

All Material Related Party Transactions and subsequent Material Modifications thereof shall require prior approval of the shareholders through resolution. No related party shall vote to approve such resolutions whether the entity is a related party to the particular transaction or not.

Provided that prior approval of the shareholders of a Company shall not be required for a related party transaction to which the listed subsidiary is a party but the Company is not a party, if regulation 23 and subregulation (2) of regulation 15 of Listing Regulations are applicable to such listed subsidiary.

For related party transactions of unlisted subsidiaries of a listed subsidiary as referred above, the prior approval of the shareholders of the listed subsidiary shall suffice.

All existing material related party contracts or arrangements entered into prior to the date of notification of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) (Sixth Amendment) Regulations, 2021 and which may continue beyond such date shall be placed for approval of shareholders in the first general meeting subsequent to notification of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) (Sixth Amendment) Regulations, 2021.

All the transactions, other than the Material Related Party Transactions, with the Related Parties which are not in the ordinary course of business or at Arm's Length basis shall also require prior approval of the shareholders through resolution, if so required under any law, and the Related Parties shall abstain from voting on such resolution.

Any Related Party Transaction or Material Related Party Transaction if entered into with a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, whose accounts are consolidated with the Company and placed before the shareholders of the Company at General Meetings for approval, shall not require approval of the Shareholders.

Any related party transactions entered into between two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, whose accounts are consolidated with Company and placed before the shareholders at the general meeting for approval, shall not require approval of the shareholders.

The notice being sent to the shareholders seeking approval for any proposed RPT shall, in addition to the requirements under the Companies Act, 2013, include the information as required under the Listing Regulations.

#### 4.4. MATERIALITY THRESHOLDS:



Regulation 23 of Listing Regulations requires the Company to provide clear threshold limits duly approved by the Board of Directors for related party transactions.

## Materiality Thresholds for related party transactions:

The RPTs which crosses the Materiality thresholds as mentioned in regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations shall be entered by the Company only with prior approval of shareholders of the Company through resolution, as per applicable provisions of the Act and the Listing Regulations, as may be amended from time to time.

All material related party transactions and subsequent material modifications as defined by the audit committee under sub-regulation (2) of regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations shall require prior approval of the shareholders through resolution and no related party shall vote to approve such resolutions whether the entity is a related party to the particular transaction or not:

Provided that prior approval of the shareholders of a listed entity shall not be required for a related party transaction to which the listed subsidiary is a party but the listed entity is not a party, if regulation 23 and sub-regulation (2) of regulation 15 of these regulations are applicable to such listed subsidiary.

## 5. RPTs NOT APPROVED UNDER THIS POLICY

An RPT involving amount not exceeding one crore rupees (INR 1,00,00,000 /-) is entered into by a director or officer of the Company without obtaining the approval of the Audit Committee and it is not ratified by the Audit Committee within three months from the date of the RPT, such transaction shall be voidable at the option of the Audit Committee and if the transaction is with the Related Party to any director or is authorized by any other director, the director concerned shall indemnify the company against any loss incurred by it.

In connection with any review of a Related Party Transaction, the Audit Committee has authority to modify or waive any procedural requirements of this Policy.

#### 6. DISCLOSURES

Details of all material transactions with Related Parties shall be disclosed as part of the Report on Corporate Governance, included in the Annual Report of the Company.

The Company shall submit to the stock exchanges disclosures of related party transactions in the format as specified by the SEBI from time to time, and publish the same on its website. Provided that Company being a 'high value debt listed entity' shall submit such disclosures along with its standalone financial results for the half year basis.



The Company shall disclose the Policy on dealing with Related Party Transactions on its website and web-link shall be provided in the Annual Report.

## 7. AMENDMENT

Any amendment or modification to the relevant Statutes, the Listing Regulations, OMDA and any other applicable regulation relating to Related Party Transaction(s) shall be deemed to be incorporated in this policy and be applicable to the Company, subject to necessary approvals from Audit Committee and Board of Directors.

## 8. REVIEW OF POLICY

This Policy shall be reviewed and reassessed periodically, being once in Three (3) years and appropriately update the Terms of Reference, based on the changes that may be brought about due to any regulatory amendments or otherwise.

Sl. No.	Reviewed By	Review Date	Approved By	Approval Date
1.	Audit Committee	July 28, 2022	Board of Directors	July 29, 2022

\*\*\*\*